



European Journal of Internal Medicine 15 (2004) 274-280

Review article

ICU management of severe acute pancreatitis

Alexander Wilmer*

Department of General Internal Medicine, Medical Intensive Care Unit, Gasthuisberg University Hospital, Catholic University of Leuven, 3000 Leuven, Belgium

Received 22 April 2004; received in revised form 23 April 2004; accepted 7 June 2004

Abstract

In intensive care medicine, severe acute pancreatitis (SAP) remains a very challenging disease with multiple complications and high mortality. The main pathophysiological mechanisms determining outcome are an uncontrolled systemic hyperinflammatory response early on and infection of pancreatic necrosis later on in the disease process. Despite a better understanding in recent years of the mechanisms and the mediators involved in the hyperinflammatory response, there is, as yet, no generally recognized specific treatment for this disease. Since early identification and aggressive treatment of associated organ dysfunction can have a major impact on outcome, early assessment of prognosis and severity is important. The evidence available indicates that patients with severe acute pancreatitis do not benefit from therapy with available antisecretory drugs or protease inhibitors. Supportive therapy, such as vigorous hydration, analgesia, correction of electrolyte and glycemia disorders, and pharmacological or mechanical support targeted at specific organs, is still the mainstay of therapy. In spite of meager evidence, prophylactic antibiotics with good penetration in pancreatic tissue are recommended in severe acute pancreatitis. Enteral nutrition via a nasojejunal tube has become the preferred route of feeding. Most patients with sterile necrosis do not benefit from surgical intervention. In patients with proven infection of pancreatic tissue, surgery is necessary. Percutaneous, radiological drainage techniques may eventually become an alternative form of drainage in selected patients.

© 2004 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Severe acute pancreatitis

Contents

1.	Introduction	275
2.	Pathophysiology	275
3.	General management	275
4.	Resuscitation, pain control, and treatment of organ dysfunction	275
5.	Assessment of severity	276
	The role of prophylactic antibiotics	
7.	Nutritional support	277
8.	Indications and timing of ERCP	277
9.	Antisecretory or anti-inflammatory treatment modalities	277
10.	Surgical treatment	278
Ref	erences	278

^{*} Tel.: +32 16 344275; fax: +32 16 344230.

1. Introduction

The clinical spectrum of acute pancreatitis ranges from a transient, self-limited inflammation with minimal organ dysfunction and uneventful recovery to necrotizing pancreatitis with multiple organ failure and death. Based on a consensus conference, severe acute pancreatitis (SAP) is defined as acute pancreatitis associated with other end organ failure and/or local complications such as necrosis, abscess, or pseudocyst [1]. Necrosis of pancreatic tissue develops in 14-40% of all cases of acute pancreatitis, with the higher incidences reported in patients admitted to tertiary care centers [2–4]. While the overall mortality of acute pancreatitis without necrosis is close to zero, the mortality of acute necrotizing pancreatitis (ANP) depends very much on possible infection of the necrotic tissue. Depending on patient selection and institutional differences, infection of necrotic pancreatic tissue may occur in 30-70% of patients [5–7]. This ominous complication accounts for a major percentage of the observed mortality and at least doubles the mortality from less than 10% in patients with sterile necrosis without additional organ failure to more than 25% and even up to 70% in those with infected necrosis and multiple organ failure [5,7–10].

Over the last decade the benefit of early surgical intervention has been challenged and early, aggressive intensive medical care has become commonplace [11–13]. In this review I will give an informed opinion on the general management of patients with SAP admitted to an intensive care unit (ICU) and I will also discuss some controversial issues emphasizing evidence from recent clinical trials and recommendations from consensus conferences.

2. Pathophysiology

In the European Union, the United States, and in Asia, gallstones and alcohol together account for approximately 80% of all cases of SAP. Other less common causes of the disease include endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreaticography (ERCP), hyperlipidemia, hypercalcemia, drugs, pancreas divisum, abdominal trauma, and hereditary disease. In about 10% of cases, no specific cause can be identified [2].

Regardless of the cause, acute pancreatitis appears to be initiated with the premature intrapancreatic activation of digestive enzymes in conjunction with microcirculatory changes. A local inflammatory reaction ensues. In severe pancreatitis, the local inflammation is amplified through induction of a generalized, cytokine-mediated, hyperinflammatory systemic response. Inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine production begins shortly after the onset of pain and typically lasts for several days [14,15]. An imbalance in this process seems to be ultimately responsible for the organ failures observed early on in the course of the

disease [16]. Infection of necrotic tissue accounts for a major percentage of the mortality later in the disease. There is evidence pointing to bacterial translocation from the intestines as the source of pancreatic infection [17]. The exact mechanism of transmural migration and the route of migration of the micro-organisms to the pancreas are still unclear.

3. General management

For diagnostic purposes and at the time of admission to the ICU, not all patients with acute pancreatitis are in need of immediate, dynamic, contrast-enhanced, tomographic scanning (CECT). However, this imaging procedure is the modality of choice for the detection of necrosis and for radiological staging. Even though pancreatic necrosis appears to develop within 24-48 h after the onset of symptoms, CECT performed within the first 12 h may show only equivocal findings [18]. CECT obtained 48-72 h after the onset of symptoms is more accurate in the depiction of necrotizing pancreatitis and has a sensitivity of close to 100%. Follow-up scans within 7-10 days are recommended in patients with one or more peripancreatic fluid collections, in those with retroperitoneal air, and in case of clinical deterioration when pancreatic infection is suspected to be the cause [19]. If necrosis is present, simultaneous fine needle aspiration should be performed.

Once the diagnosis is established and the patient stable, the management strategy involves several steps. First, there should be ongoing adequate fluid resuscitation, pain control, early detection and treatment of additional organ failures, and assessment of severity. Then, choices will have to be made regarding the use of prophylactic antibiotics, the route of nutrition, the timing of ERCP (in the case of biliary pancreatitis), and the possible benefit of antisecretory or anti-inflammatory treatment modalities. Finally, in some patients, the indications and timing of surgical therapy will need to be considered.

4. Resuscitation, pain control, and treatment of organ dysfunction

At the time of admission to the ICU, patients with SAP are usually volume-depleted due to poor oral intake, third space loss, and increased vascular permeability due to the generalized inflammatory response. Rehydration may require large amounts of fluid (up to 10 l in the first 24 h). In the absence of important cardiac dysfunction, crystalloids are the preferred solution. Patients with SAP should be given an arterial catheter, at least two peripheral lines (and, in cases of simultaneous renal dysfunction or hemodynamic instability, a central venous line), continuous oxygen saturation and electrocardiogram monitoring, and a

urinary catheter. Some patients with multiple organ failure may benefit from more invasive hemodynamic monitoring with a pulmonary artery catheter. After initial rapid resuscitation, fluid replacement should aim at 35 ml/kg body weight per day. If these patients develop shock it is usually of a distributive type, and noradrenaline is a good first choice in this clinical context.

For obvious reasons, adequate pain control is important in many patients. Paracetamol and nonsteroidal antinflammtory drugs are often insufficient. The latter need to be used with caution, especially if the patients are hypovolemic and oliguric due to possible exacerbating renal dysfunction. Opiates are often needed and there are no compelling human data suggesting that one opiate is superior to another [19]. In a recent randomized trial with 107 patients, continuous intravenous infusion of procaine hydrochloride was shown to be significantly less effective than an opiate such as pentazocine [20].

Organ dysfunction in the course of SAP is frequent, and early detection and treatment are of paramount importance. Progression to multiple organ failure may occur within a few hours of the onset of symptoms, placing the patient at a very high risk of death from cardiovascular or pulmonary failure. Simple, readily available biochemical and clinical parameters are enough to calculate the sequential organ failure assessment (SOFA) score, which is a practical means to detect and objectively grade organ dysfunction early on [21]. Respiratory failure may be expected in 56-63% of cases, shock in 23–51%, renal failure in 13–42%, and coagulopathy in 19-42% of cases [10,22-25]. The rules for the management of organ dysfunction are the same as for other critically ill patients. However, control of glycemia and intensive monitoring of serum electrolytes are of particular importance in these patients.

5. Assessment of severity

Objective assessment of the severity of acute pancreatitis, though often neglected, is important for a number of reasons, including better identification of patients at risk of developing severe disease, better utilization of costly ICU resources, and timely and specific treatment that may have a positive impact on the outcome. A number of parameters to predict severity in acute pancreatitis have been investigated in the past, i.e., clinical assessment, scoring systems, biochemical parameters, and imaging procedures. Clinical assessment of severity of illness in acute pancreatitis at the time of admission will misclassify approximately 60% of patients [26,27]. Forty-eight hours after admission, however, correct prediction based on clinical grounds will increase to approximately 83%. In recent years, a number of markers of immunological activation or pancreatic injury, such as interleukin-6, urinary trypsinogen activation peptide, procalcitonin, phospholipase A2, and polymorphonuclear elastase, have been shown to be good candidates for the early stratification of patients with acute pancreatitis [28,29]. However, at the present time, none of these tests are available for use in routine practice because they are expensive and time-consuming. The C-reactive protein (CRP) is a good discriminator between severe and mild disease 48 h after the onset of symptoms. A cut-off level of 150 mg/l is accepted in the literature as a good predictor of severe disease [30]. Both the Ranson's score and the Glasgow (Imrie) score have a good predictive value, but after 48 h they are not much better than intuitive prediction based on physical findings [31–33]. The Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation score (APACHE II score) comprises biochemical and clinical variables as well as several co-morbidities that have been proven to influence outcome. Since the predictive accuracy for death or complications with the APACHE II score at 24 h is as effective as the former scoring systems at 48 h, this score has been recommended as the best choice if a multiple factor scoring system is to be used [30]. An APACHE II score of 9 or more indicates a severe disease, but will exclude many with a lower score who will develop a complication. An APACHE II score of 6 or more will include nearly all complications (sensitivity 95%), but only half of the patients will develop a complication (positive predictive value 50%) [34]. On the basis of a combination of peripancreatic inflammation, phlegmon, and degree of pancreatic necrosis, a CT severity index can be completed that correlates well with morbidity and mortality [18,35]. Obesity, as shown by a body mass index (BMI) above 30, is a reliable predictor of severe outcome independently of age [36,37]. Left-sided or bilateral pleural effusions on chest Xray performed within 24 h of admission have also proven to be indicative of subsequent complications or fatal outcome [38]. Based on the aforementioned and on the 1999 Santorini consensus document on the management of acute pancreatitis [30], this author favors the following practical approach to predicting severity requiring admission to an ICU: a BMI above 30, left-sided or bilateral effusion on chest radiography performed within 24 h of admission, an APACHE II score of at least 8 at 24 h after admission, and a CRP above 150 mg/l or a Ranson score above 3 at 48 h after admission. The development of organ failure or pancreatic necrosis (i.e., SAP by definition) also warrants immediate transfer to an ICU.

6. The role of prophylactic antibiotics

In acute pancreatitis, infected necrosis accounts for approximately 80% of all deaths. The incidence of infection depends on the duration of the pancreatitis. In a prospective, clinical study of 114 patients with ANP, the infection rate in the first week was 24%, in the second week 36%, and it reached a peak of 71% in the third week [5]. Forty-three to eighty-six percent of the organisms found in pancreatic

infection are gram-negative rods, 28–36% are staphylococci and streptococci, 4–11% anaerobes, and 7–37% *Candida* species [10,22,39]. Thus, prevention of infection by means of anti-infectives could, theoretically, be a beneficial therapy. However, the role and optimal duration of prohylactic antibiotic therapy are still controversial issues. Clearly, an antibiotic agent has to reach a therapeutic tissue level in the pancreas and must cover the flora commonly encountered in pancreatic infection. For this purpose, carbapenems, followed by quinolones, are by far the most efficacious antibiotics [17,40].

Between 1993 and 2003, seven prospective, controlled studies with prophylactic intravenous anti-infectives, with or without selective digestive decontamination (SDD), were published [41–47]. In most of these studies, the incidence of pancreatic infection was reduced, usually significantly, and in two studies mortality was significantly lower. The largest of these trials randomized 71 patients, the smallest 23. Nonetheless, all guidelines and consensus conferences recommend prophylactic intravenous antibiotics in SAP [19,30,34]. The number of complications may be expected to decrease but not the mortality. There is no place for prophylactic antibiotics in acute mild pancreatitis. SDD improved outcome in one good randomized study, and its use seems to be a rational and logical approach in preventing late infection of pancreatic necrosis. Because of the workload associated with its use in a group of patients who already place huge demands on ICU resources, unconditional endorsement of SDD has been delayed until further evidence is available. The duration of prophylactic antibiotic treatment is unclear, but there seems to be no significant advantage of 3- versus 2-week treatment duration [22].

7. Nutritional support

For years, TPN has been considered the standard for nutritional support in SAP. The main argument favoring this practice was that intravenous nutritional support was a way of 'resting the pancreas' by eliminating the hormonal stimulation and consequent exocrine secretion associated with classical nasogastric enteral nutrition. Several studies, however, conclusively failed to demonstrate an effect on survival [48,49]. Nowadays, enteral nutrition (EN) is favored [50]. The rationale for the use of EN is based on the premise that enteral feeding maintains the barrier function of the intestinal tract, promotes gut motility, possibly reduces translocation of bacteria or endotoxins, and avoids the infectious complications associated with TPN. Between 1997 and 2003, six randomized trials were published that compared TPN and EN in patients with acute pancreatitis [51-56]. The largest study randomized 96 patients, the smallest 26. Although further studies are necessary, the published data suggest that EN is safe and may be advantageous over

TPN in ANP. One definite benefit of EN in the setting of ANP is reduced costs; probable benefits include reduced septic complications. The following recommendations have been made [19,30]:

- Most patients with mild pancreatitis do not benefit from nutritional support.
- 2. In patients with severe pancreatitis, EN via a nasojejunal tube inserted beyond the ligament of Treitz should be started early in the course of the disease.
- 3. TPN is advised only in circumstances of intolerance to EN, or of increasing pain with significant increases in amylase and lipase during EN, or when a nasojejunal tube cannot be placed.
- 4. Patients who require an operation should have a jejunal tube placed at the time of surgery.

8. Indications and timing of ERCP

Common bile duct stones are the cause of SAP in about 40% of cases. ERCP is only indicated when a biliary cause is strongly suspected or, preferably, proven. The ideal timing of ERCP and endoscopic sphincterotomy (ES) has been evaluated in four prospective, randomized studies including from as few as 120 to as many as 238 patients [57–60]. These four trials differ importantly with regard to inclusion criteria, study design, and definitions. Definite conclusions about the timing of ERCP are, therefore, not possible. However, the following recommendations have been issued by the 1998 United Kingdom guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis and have been endorsed by the Santorini consensus document [30,34]:

- 1. In the presence of severe pancreatitis with sonographically detected gallstones and jaundice (or bilirubin level equal or greater to twice the upper limit to normal) or aspartate or alanine transaminase at least twice the upper limit of normal or in the case of cholangitis, urgent ERCP with sphincterotomy is recommended.
- In the absence of these biochemical and clinical signs, conservative treatment is justified in suspected gallstone-pancreatitis. However, if the patient's condition fails to improve within 48 h in spite of intensive resuscitation, therapeutic ERCP is also indicated.
- 3. Whenever performed, ERCP should be carried out by an experienced endoscopist and the patient should receive antibiotic coverage.

9. Antisecretory or anti-inflammatory treatment modalities

Somatostatin and its long-acting analogue, octreotide, are potent inhibitors of pancreatic exocrine secretion and

have been reported to decrease mortality in experimental acute pancreatitis. Since significant effects on mortality rate have only been shown in meta-analysis, therapy with somatostatin in acute clinical pancreatitis has not found its way into standard practice [63–66]. A large randomized, double-blind, multicenter trial with octreotide in moderate to severe acute pancreatitis showed no benefit [67]. Plateletactivating factor (PAF), a pro-inflammatory lipid mediator, plays a significant role in the systemic immune response syndrome that follows SAP. The only PAF antagonist that has been studied in humans is lexipafant, and initial doubleblind trials with this compound have shown a promising trend towards a reduction in mortality and a reduced incidence of systemic complications [68]. These encouraging findings were later discredited by the results of a large multicenter, phase III, double-blind, randomized study involving 290 patients with predicted SAP (APACHE II >6) [69]. Lexipafant, administered within the first 72 h after the onset of symptoms, was no better then placebo in preventing new organ failure or mortality.

Given the available evidence, there is general consensus that none of the available antisecretory drugs or protease inhibitors is beneficial in the treatment of any degree of acute pancreatitis [19,30,34,].

10. Surgical treatment

Surgical intervention is necessary for many patients hospitalized with SAP in an ICU. The controversy surrounding the appropriate indication and timing has recently been addressed in a consensus document of the International Society of Pancreatology [13]. The following guidelines have been endorsed.

- (1) Infected necrosis is generally accepted as an absolute indication for aggressive surgical debridement. Surgery should be performed as soon as possible after confirmation of pancreatic infection, usually by CT-guided fine needle aspiration of pancreatic necrosis and subsequent gram stain and culture.
- (2) The available data do not support a general operative policy towards patients with sterile necrosis, although subgroups may benefit from surgical intervention. These subgroups may include patients continuing to deteriorate from multiple organ failure despite full intensive care, patients continuing to exhibit a septic picture 10 days or more after onset, and patients with recurrent abdominal pain or hyperamylasemia following attempts at oral feeding 3–4 weeks after onset.

In the opinion of this author, a clinical course resulting in an abdominal compartment syndrome with intra-abdominal pressures exceeding 20–25 mm Hg and progressive organ failure should prompt consideration of decompressive laparotomy. Surgical therapies should favor an organ-reserving approach with no technique being clearly superior to another.

Positive results have been reported with less invasive drainage methods, such as percutaneous catheter drainage or percutaneous necrosectomy, but the value of these newer methods has yet to be confirmed in controlled studies.

References

- [1] Bradley EL. A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis. Arch Surg 1993;128:586–90.
- [2] Baron T, Morgan D. Acute necrotizing pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 1999;18:1412-7.
- [3] Blum T, Maisonneuve P, Lowenfels AB, Lankisch PG. Fatal outcome in acute pancreatitis: its occurrence and early prediction. Pancreatology 2001;1:237–41.
- [4] Gloor B, Müller CA, Worni M, et al. Late mortality in patients with severe acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2001;88:975-9.
- [5] Beger HG, Bittner R, Silvia Block, Büchler M. Bacterial contamination of pancreatic necrosis: a prospective clinical study. Gastroenterology 1986;91:433–8.
- [6] Gerzof S, Banks P, Robbins A, et al. Early diagnosis of pancreatic infection by computed tomography-guided aspiration. Gastroenterology 1987;93:1315-20.
- [7] Beger HG, Rau B, Isenmann R. Natural history of necrotizing pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2003;3:93-101.
- [8] Imrie CW. Underdiagnosis of acute pancreatitis. Adv Acute Pancreat 1997;1:3-5.
- [9] Banks P. Infected necrosis: morbidity and therapeutic consequences. Hepatogastroenterology 1991;38:116–9.
- [10] Büchler MW, Gloor B, Müller CA, Friess H, Seiler CA, Uhl W. Acute necrotising pancreatitis: treatment strategy according to the status of infection. Ann Surg 2000;232:619–26.
- [11] Bradley E, Allen K. A prospective longitudinal study of observation versus surgical intervention in the management of necrotizing pancreatitis. Am J Surg 1991;161:19–24.
- [12] Foitzik T, Klar E, Buhr H, Herfarth C. Improved survival in acute necrotizing pancreatitis despite limiting the indications for surgical debridement. Eur J Surg 1995;161:187–92.
- [13] Uhl W, Warshaw A, Imrie C, et al. IAP guidelines for the surgical management of acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2002;2:565-73.
- [14] Norman J. New approaches to acute pancreatitis: role of inflammatory mediators. Digestion 1999;60:57-60.
- [15] Mayer J, Rau B, Gansauge F, Beger HG. Inflammatory mediators in human acute pancreatitis: clinical and pathophysiological implications. Gut 2000:47:546-52.
- [16] Brivet FG, Emilie D, Galanaud P. Pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines during acute severe pancreatitis: an early and sustained response, although unpredictable of death. Crit Care Med 1999:27:749-55.
- [17] Schmid SW, Uhl W, Friess H. The role of infection in acute pancreatitis. Gut 1999;45:311-6.
- [18] Balthazar EJ. Acute pancreatitis: assessment of severity with clinical and CT evaluation. Radiology 2002;223:603-13.
- [19] Toouli J, Brooke-Smith M, Bassi C, et al. Guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002;17:S15-S39 (Suppl.).
- [20] Kahl S, Zimmermann S, Pross M, Schulz HU, Schidt U, Malfertheiner P. Procaine hydrochloride fails to relieve pain in patients with acute pancreatitis. Digestion 2004;69:5–9.
- [21] Vincent JL, de Mendonça A, Cantraine F, et al. Use of the SOFA score to assess the incidence of organ dysfunction/failure in intensive care units: results of a multicenter, prospective study. Crit Care Med 1998;26:1793–800.
- [22] Maravi-Poma E, Gener J, Alvarez-Lerma F, et al. Early antibiotic treatment (prophylaxis) of septic complications in severe acute

- necrotising pancreatitis: a prospective, randomized, multicentre study comparing two regimens with imipenem-cilastatin. Intensive Care Med 2003;29:1974–80.
- [23] Lapauw S, Wilmer A, Bobbaers H. Incidence of organ failure in patients with severe acute pancreatitis. Crit Care 2003;7:S104 (Suppl.).
- [24] Halonen KI, Pettilä V, Leppäniemi AK, et al. Multiple organ dysfunction associated with severe acute pancreatitis. Crit Care Med 2002;30:1274–9.
- [25] Isenmann R, Rau B, Beger HG. Bacterial infection and extent of necrosis are determinants of organ failure in patients with acute necrotising pancreatitis. Br J Surg 1999;86:1020-4.
- [26] Corfield AP, Cooper MJ, Williamson RC. Prediction of severity in acute pancreatitis: prospective comparison of three prognostic indices. Lancet 1985;24:403-7.
- [27] Wilson C, Heath DI, Imrie CW. Prediction of outcome in acute pancreatitis: a comparative study of APACHE II, clinical assessment and multiple factor scoring systems. Br J Surg 1990;77:1260-4.
- [28] Frossard J-L, Hadengue A, Pastor CM. New serum markers for the detection of severe acute pancreatitis in humans. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2001;164:162-70.
- [29] Rau B, Beger HG, Schilling MK. Biochemical severity stratification of acute pancreatitis: pathophysiological aspects and clinical implications. In: Vincent J-L, editor. Yearbook of intensive care and emergency medicine 2004. Berlin: Springer, 2004. p. 499–515.
- [30] Dervenis C, Johnson C, Bassi C, et al. Diagnosis, objective assessment of severity and management of acute pancreatitis. Int J Pancreatol 1999;25:195-210.
- [31] Ranson J, Rifkind K, Roses D, et al. Prognostic signs and the role of operative management in acute pancreatitis. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1974:139:69–81.
- [32] De Bernardinis M, Violi V, Roncoroni L, Boselli AS, Giunta A, Peracchia A. Discriminant power and information content of Ranson's prognostic signs in acute pancreatitis: a meta-analytic study. Crit Care Med 1999;27:2272–83.
- [33] Blamey S, Imrie C, O'Neill J, Gilmour W, Carter D. Prognostic factors in acute pancreatitis. Gut 1984;25:1340-6.
- [34] United Kingdom guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. Gut 1998;42:S1–S13.
- [35] Balthazar E, Freeny P, van Sonnenberg E. Imaging and intervention in acute pancreatitis. Radiology 1994;297–306.
- [36] Funnel I, Bornman P, Weakley S, Terblanche J, Marks I. Obesity: an important prognostic factor in acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 1993;80:484-6.
- [37] Martinez J, Sanchez-Paya J, Palazon JM, et al. Obesity: a prognostic factor of severity in acute pancreatitis. Pancreas 1999;19:15–20.
- [38] Talamini G, Uomo G, Pezilli R, et al. Serum creatinine and chest radiographs in the early prediction of severe acute pancreatitis. Am J Surg 1999;177:7–14.
- [39] De Waele J, Vogelaers D, Blot S, Colardyn F. Fungal infections in patients with severe acute pancreatitis and the use of prohylactic therapy. Clin Infect Dis 2003;37:208-13.
- [40] Büchler M, Malfertheiner P, Friess H, et al. Human pancreatic tissue concentration of bactericidal antibiotics. Gastroenterology 1992;103: 1902–8.
- [41] Pederzoli P, Bassi C, Vesentini S, Campedelli A. A randomized multicenter clinical trial of antibiotic prophylaxis of septic complications in acute necrotizing pancreatitis with imipenem. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1993;176:480-3.
- [42] Sainio V, Kemppainen E, Puolakkainen P, et al. Early antibiotic treatment in acute necrotizing pancreatitis. Lancet 1995;346:663-7.
- [43] Schwarz M, Isenmann R, Meyer H, Beger H. Antibiotika bei nekrotisierender pankreatitis. Dtsch Med Wochenschr 1997;122: 356–361.
- [44] Bassi C, Falconi M, Talamini G, et al. Controlled clinical trial of pefloxacin versus imipenem in severe acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 1998;115:1513-7.

- [45] Luiten E, Hop W, Lange J, Bruining H. Controlled clinical trial of selective decontamination for the treatment of severe acute pancreatitis. Ann Surg 1995;222:57–65.
- [46] Delcenserie R, Yzet T, Ducroix JP. Prophylactic abtibiotics in treatment of severe acute alcoholic pancreatitis. Pancreas 1996;13: 198–201.
- [47] Yue-Ming H, Xin-sheng L, Zhong-Li Ai, et al. Prevention and therapy of fungal infection in severe acute pancreatitis: a prospective clinical trial. World J Gastroenterol 2003;9:2619–21.
- [48] Sax H, Warner B, Talamini M, et al. Early total parenteral nutrition in acute pancreatitis: lack of beneficial effects. Am J Surg 1987;153: 117-24.
- [49] Goodgame J, Fischer J. Parenteral nutrition in the treatment of acute pancreatitis: effect on complications and mortality. Ann Surg 1977;186:651–8.
- [50] Lobo DN, Memon MA, Allison SP, Rowlands BJ. Evolution of nutritional support in acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2000;87:407–695.
- [51] Kalfarentzos F, Kehagias J, Mead N, Kokkinis K, Gogos C. Enteral nutrition is superior to parenteral nutrition in severe acute pancreatitis: results of a randomized prospective trial. Br J Surg 1997;84:1665–9.
- [52] Windsor A, Kanwar S, Li A, et al. Compared with parenteral nutrition, enteral feeding attenuates the acute phase response and improves disease severity in acute pancreatitis. Gut 1998;42:431–5.
- [53] McClave S, Greene L, Snider H, et al. Comparison of the safety of early enteral vs parenteral nutrition in mild acute pancreatitis. JPEN 1997;21:14–20.
- [54] Abou-Assi S, Craig K, O'Keefe SJD. Hypocaloric jejunal feeding is better than total parenteral nutrition in acute pancreatitis: results of a randomised comparative study. Am J Gastroenterol 2002;97: 2255-62.
- [55] Olah A, Pardavi G, Belagyi T, Nagy A, Issekutz A, Mohamed GE. Early nasojejunal feeding in acute pancreatitis is associated with a lower complication rate. Nutrition 2002;18:259–62.
- [56] Zhao G, Wang C-Y, Wang F, Xiong J-X. Clinical study on nutrition support in patients with severe acute pancreatitis. World J Gastroenterol 2003:9:2105–8.
- [57] Neoptolemos J, Carr-Locke D, London N, Bailey I, James D, Fossard D. Controlled trial of urgent endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography and endoscopic sphincterotomy versus conservative treatment for acute pancreatitis due to gallstones. Lancet 1988;2:979–83.
- [58] Fan S, Lai E, Mok F, Lo C, Zheng S, Wong J. Early treatment of acute biliary pancreatitis by endoscopic papillotomy. N Engl J Med 1993;328:228–32.
- [59] Nowak A, Nowakowska-Dulawa E, Marek T, Rybicka J. Final results of the prospective, randomized, controlled study on endoscopic sphincterotomy versus conventional management in acute biliary pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 1995;108(Suppl. A):380 (abstract).
- [60] Fölsch U, Nitsche R, Lüdtke R, et al. Early ERCP and papillotomy compared with conservative treatment for acute biliary pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 1997;336:237–42.
- [61] Schmid S, Uhl W, Büchler M. Protease–antiprotease interactions and the rationale for therapeutic protease inhibitors. Scand J Gastroenterol 1996;31:47–50 (Suppl.).
- [62] Chen H, Chen JC, Hwang TL, Jan YY, Chen MF. Prospective and randomized study of gabexate mesilate for the treatment of severe acute pancreatitis with organ dysfunction. Hepatogastroenterology 2000;47:1147-50.
- [63] D'Amico D, Favia G, Biasiato R, et al. The use of somatostatin in acute pancreatitis—results of a multicenter trial. Hepatogastroenterology 1990;37:92-8.
- [64] Choi T, Mok F, Zhan W, Fan S, Lai E, Wong J. Somatostatin in the treatment of acute pancreatitis: a prospective randomized controlled trial. Gut 1989;30:223-7.
- [65] Gjorup I, Roikjaer O, Anderson B, et al. A double-blinded multicentric trial of somatostatin in the treatment of acute pancreatitis. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1992;175:397–400.

- [66] Carballo F, Dominguez E, Fernandez-Calvet L, Martinez-Pancorbo C, Garcia A, De la Morena J. Is somatostatin useful in the treatment of acute pancreatitis? A meta-analysis. Digestion 1991;49:12–3.
- [67] Uhl W, Büchler M, Malfertheiner P, et al. A randomised, double blind, multicentre trial of octreotide in moderate to severe acute pancreatitis. Gut 1999;45:97–104.
- [68] Kingsnorth AN, Galloway SW, Formela LJ. Randomized, doubleblind phase II trial of lexipafant, a platelet-activating factor antagonist, in human acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 1995;82:1414–20.
- [69] Johnson CD, Kingsnorth AN, Imrie CW, et alfor the UK Acute Pancreatitis Study Group. Double blind, randomised, placebo controlled study of a platelet activating factor antagonist, lexipafant, in the treatment and prevention of organ failure in predicted severe acute pancreatitis. Gut 2001;48:62–9.